VI.

1368 Research Park Dr
Beavercreek, Ohio

BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
Regular Meeting - November 12, 2025, 6:00 p.m.
Council Chambers

CALL TO ORDER
ROLL CALL
APPROVAL OF AGENDA

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. July 9, 2025

PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. V-25-3, Ashley & Oswaldo Delacruz, 2571 Murwood Court
B. V-25-4, Hailey & Andrew Moeggenburg, 1680 N. Laddie Court

ADJOURNMENT



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
REGULAR MEETING, July 9, 2025, 6:00 PM

PRESENT: Ms. Barhorst, Mr. Essman, Mr. Rader, Ms. Vest
ABSENT: Mr. Roach
Chairman Essman called the meeting to order followed by roll call.

Mr. Rader MOVED to excuse Mr. Roach from the meeting, seconded by Ms.
Vest. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Ms. Barhorst MOVED approval of the agenda, seconded by Mr. Rader. Motion
PASSED by majority voice vote.

MINUTES
Ms. Vest MOVED approval of the June 11, 2025 Regular Meeting minutes,
seconded by Mr. Rader. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Ms. Vest MOVED approval of the June 1, 2025 Work Session minutes,
seconded by Mr. Rader. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

PUBLIC HEARING

BZA-25-1, Sean & Andrea Daily

Clerk Gillaugh read the notice of public hearing on an application filed by
Sean & Andrea Dailey, 2187 Van Oss Drive, Beavercreek, OH 45431 appealing a
Notice of Violation issued by the Code Enforcement Officer. The Notice of
Violation referenced a violation to Chapter 158.118 of the Beavercreek Zoning
Code. The property is located on the west side of Van Oss Drive, three lots
south of the intersection of Kemp Road and Van Oss Drive further described
as Book 4, Page 15, Parcel 69 on the Greene County Property Tax Atlas.

Mr. Funk summarized the staff report dated July 2, 2025, which stated the
applicant is appealing the Notice of Violation to bring a driveway into
compliance pursuant to Chapter 158.118. He discussed the location of the
property, and showed a video of the site. Mr. Funk stated on April 17, 2025,
the City received a complaint that the applicant had constructed a driveway
that was not compliant with our Code. He explained the Code Enforcement
Officer went out on April 18, 2025, and determined the driveway did not meet
the Code. He reviewed the timeline of the violations, and when the appeal was
filed.

Mr. Funk read Chapter 158.118 (D) of the Beavercreek Zoning Code, and said
the driveway was expanded on the property. He recited what the definition
was of Improved Surface in Chapter 158.003. Mr. Funk explained in his opinion
the applicant didn’t pave their driveway with asphalt concrete, and
determined they took asphalt millings and spread them out. Mr. Funk
discussed what asphalt concrete and milled asphalt was and what their
characteristics are. He showed a photo of the driveway, and explained staff
views that as similar to gravel and is not a paved asphalt concrete surface nor
is not permanent surface or a continuous hard surface.



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 7/9/25

Mr. Funk stated in this case the Board has two options. He said the first is to
approve the applicant’s appeal finding it is valid and staff’s decision was not in
accordance with Chapter 158.118(D) of the Zoning Code, which would mean
the applicant would not be required to take corrective action. Mr. Funk
explained the second option would be to deny the applicant’s appeal finding
staff’s option lawful and in accordance with Chapter 158.118(D), which would
require the applicant to continue to work with staff to bring the property into
compliance.

Sean & Andrea Daily, sworn in, asked for staff to show the video of the
property again, and stated that is what their driveway looked like this evening.
He presented the Board with a photo of the driveway he had taken, and said
he was not sure they correlated with one other but the Board could make
their own decision. Mr. Daily said they did receive a violation from Mr. Hutton
in April stating that they had used recycled asphalt in their driveway, which he
was calling millings. He said he was not sure where Mr. Hutton came up with
that, but that is what Mr. Hutton told him it was. Mr. Daily explained he made a
follow-up call to Matt Funk, and was told going off of the pictures it looked
like asphalt millings. He explained their attorney was then in contact with the
City attorney, and stated during that time there was some misunderstanding
on how the appeal section goes with the violations. Mr. Daily said the violation
notice, does not say how an appeal needs to be filed or what the process was.
He stated Mr. Hutton visited his house again, and there was some confusion
on Mr. Hutton’s part on what violation he was giving him in terms of if it was a
continuation violation or a second violation. Mr. Daily explained then they
found out they had to file an appeal application and what that process was.

Mr. Daily said Mr. Funk explained what bituminous asphalt is, so he didn’t feel
he needed to do that. He stated what he has down in his driveway he
describes as bituminous asphalt, sole and solely through, so he was not sure
where the misinterpretation may be. Mr. Daily explained they remodeled their
home, had numerous inspectors on the property, but there was no permit
needed for a driveway expansion or an inspection. He discussed what the
Code says in Chapter 158.118 and the definition of driveway. Mr. Daily
explained as their attorney had said with the City’s attorney, if this is how it is
to be looked at then the definition of driveway needs to include what is stated
in Chapter 158.118(C) and (D). He explained he is still a little torn as to where
the confusion is with the asphalt they have in their driveway. Mr. Daily
questioned if it is not the asphalt the City wants to see then he questioned
why the City has on the roadways. He presented the Board with several
photos of the City streets he had taken.

Mr. Daily stated Mr. Funk and Mr. Hutton have both stated their driveway is
asphalt millings, but he was not sure what their credentials are in asphalt
training. He said he has not seen anything on that, and would like to know
where they stand on that or if this is simply their opinion versus his opinion.
Mr. Daily did not feel his driveway was an eyesore anymore than what he had
seen on a lot of City streets. He stated no one had physically come out and
had a comparison with him or had a trained professional from the asphalt
industry discuss the installation process other than what they just saw on a
slide show. Mr. Daily said there is no where in the Code where said product

2



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 7/9/25

being pavers, concrete or bituminous asphalt needs to be installed, and there
is no permits or inspections required. He believed what they installed is more
than sufficient for their standards, yet after the fact, the City wants to come to
them after and say that it is not. Mr. Daily stated it makes it very tough on
their end financially, physically, and emotionally to have to think they may
have to redo all of this because someone may not like that. He explained just
because someone may not like it mean that is it wrong according to how we
all interpret the Code.

In public input, Joe Kindell, 2155 Van Oss Drive, stated the driveway looked
fine. He said he lived three doors down, and Mr. Daily had done a lot of work
to the house. Mr. Kindell saw nothing wrong with it, and stated the house is
beautiful and the City needed to cut the man some slack.

Marcus Radat, 2184 Van Oss Drive, stated he had lived there since 1996. He
said the applicants have the nicest house on the street, and did not
understand why someone would complain about the driveway. He felt
everything was top notch.

Cassi Owens, 2166 Van Oss Drive, stated they live a couple doors down and
don’t see any problems. She said the Dailey’s keep their house very nice. She
said there are houses on the street that are eyesores, but this driveway is not
one of them.

There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.

Ms. Barhorst asked if a binder was used in the construction of the driveway or
if the driveway was made of loose particles. Mr. Daily asked her to define
binder. Ms. Barhorst asked if the driveway was solid like a roadway would be.
Mr. Daily said absolutely, and it is bound together solid. Ms. Barhorst asked
what they are bound together by. Mr. Daily said bituminous asphalt is the
product that is on his driveway bound together. Counsel Lounsbury said for
clarification can you reach down and grab handfuls of it and throw it off. Mr.
Daily said no, and it is as hard of product as some of the streets. Ms. Barhorst
asked when the driveway was finished. Mr. Daily believed it was the end of
May or the beginning of June.

Mr. Rader said when going through this process with violations he questioned
if it was normally in response to a complaint. Counsel Lounsbury stated that
was correct. Mr. Rader questioned what the City is allowed to ask for as far as
proof goes what was used. Mr. Funk stated they do a visual inspection. He
said asphalt concrete is a manufactured product from a plant that is heated
and paved on, which is different than the milled material that is dumped then
spread out. He said according to the applicant it was done over a period of
time, which sounds like they did not hire a contractor that came out with hot
mix asphalt and paved their driveway but was a loose material that was
dumped on their driveway, spread out, and packed down. Mr. Funk explained
those are two distinctly different products. He said with reasonable
confidence this is not a manufactured material that was hot from a plant and
paved on.



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 7/9/25

Counsel Lounsbury thought there is no question an improved surface was
acquired to widen the driveway. He said the Board is bound by what the
definition of what an improved surface is in the Zoning Code. Counsel
Lounsbury read the definition of improved surface, and stated this appeal
comes down to the question if what they put on their driveway meets that
definition.

Ms. Vest asked where the applicant could access that definition. Mr. Funk
explained it is in the definition section of the Zoning Code. He stated the
applicant said it should be highlighted, but there are many different terms in
the Zoning Code that are not highlighted but are still defined. Counsel
Lounsbury explained in the definition session they are all bold and capitals,
but then every other time it appears in the Zoning Code it is not. He stated
that is how the ORC, Ohio Revised Code, and the OAC, Ohio Administrative
Code both are too.

Mr. Essman asked if the applicant increased the driveway as part of an
improvement to the home. Mr. Daily explained the garage was added, so they
had to increase the size of the driveway to lead to the garage. He said Mr.
Funk keeps flipping the Powerpoint to the photo of the driveway, but that
was not an updated photo of the driveway. Mr. Essman questioned if Mr. Funk
believed the intent of the Code was to have an impervious surface. Mr. Funk
said any of the materials listed in the Code would be considered an
impervious surface.

Mr. Rader questioned what were implications of the decision if they do not
agree with the City. Counsel Lounsbury said if they say this is not a violation
and asphalt millings are a permanent and continuance hard surface
constructed of bituminous/asphalt concrete that means anyone who wants to
expand their driveway could use crushed up asphalt. He said more than likely
it means they could also use crushed up cement.

Mr. Essman asked when Mr. Funk last inspected the driveway. Mr. Funk
explained he did the drive by video late last week or the beginning of this
week. Mr. Essman asked the applicant if anything changed in the last two
weeks. Mr. Daily said no. Mr. Essman questioned if the applicant considered
this a hard surface. Mr. Daily said yes. Mr. Essman asked what made it a hard
surface, and questioned if it was water resistant. Mr. Daily said yes. Mr.
Essman asked if the applicant could explain how the driveway was
constructed. Mr. Daily said he was not sure what he was asking. Mr. Essman
said they brought in three inches of crushed limestone that was rolled, then
they brought in bituminous asphalt that was laid down and rolled. Mr. Daily
stated absolutely. Mr. Essman questioned if there were any other components
that would cause the millings that have been introduced here. Mr. Daily said
they keep referring to this as millings, but no one has been able to come out
and say that those are millings. Mr. Essman questioned what product did he
use. Mr. Daily stated bituminous asphalt. He said under the definition it does
not state if it comes out hot or cold, and the City uses cold repair on their
roads that is also found as bituminous asphalt. Mr. Essman said it is the
applicant’s contention that it is bituminous asphalt that was used and it was a
cold mix rather than a hot mix. Mr. Daily said if that is how he would like to
imply it, then yes. Mr. Essman explained he didn’t mean to imply anything, and

4



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 7/9/25

was asking the applicant for facts. Mr. Daily stated he was not sure what he
could answer that because what is he calling hot and cold. Counsel Lounsbury
explained Jeff Moorman, City Engineer, was present if he had questions about
asphalt millings.

Mr. Essman asked what the difference was between cold and hot patch. Jeff
Moorman, Public Service Director and City Engineer, explained the asphalt
plants are not open in winter, so if there is a pot hole in the middle of winter, it
is filled with cold mix to temporarily fix the pot hole. He said once the asphalt
plants reopen, they remove the cold mix and replace it with a hot mix patch.
Mr. Moorman stated they maintain 252 centerline miles in the City, so he was
sure if they were all drove there would be some spots that would need to be
repaired. He explained he did not see the examples the Board received
tonight, but if those locations are shared with him he would get them
addressed. Mr. Moorman stated looking at the picture the material that was
placed he could tell there was a granular coarseness to it. He said he has done
a lot with asphalt over the years, about 30 years of experience in public
improvements. He said in his opinion it looked like asphalt millings or recycled
asphalt. Mr. Moorman stated as Mr. Funk was describing it is a left over
product when they mill out a parking lot or roadway, and is the grindings from
the solid surface that used to be there.

Mr. Essman asked Mr. Moorman from his experience if this was an impervious
surface that is resist to potholes etc. Mr. Moorman said it is not in his
experience, and he would classify this as a substitute for gravel where it can
be ground up, rolled out and compacted. He explained it still functions as a
gravel driveway. Mr. Essman questioned in his expert opinion this did not
meet the Code. Mr. Moorman stated in his opinion it does not, and it falls short
of the definition of an improved surface.

Ms. Barhorst asked if Mr. Moorman believed the driveway surface met the
definition of continuance. Mr. Moorman said he did not think so.

Ms. Vest asked when photo was taken. Mr. Lounsbury stated the question
before them was the date that the violation were given, so if they had gotten
rid of it and completely paved it between the violation and now they still
would have caused a violation. He said he doubts the City would have pressed
forward with anything, but the question before the Board was if there was a
violation at the time.

Ms. Vest MOVED to deny the administrative appeal, seconded by Ms.
Barhorst. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 4-0.

ADJOURNMENT
Mr. Rader MOVED adjournment at 6:47 p.m., seconded by Ms. Barhorst.
Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Melissa Gillaugh
Deputy Clerk


















































































































